
Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development 
In line with advice from HM Government, the council is now holding only essential 
meetings. This plays a part in helping us to maintain the safety of the public, staff and 
councillors. These meetings are being held electronically and, unfortunately, you will 
not be able to attend them.   

However, the City Mayor has asked that, as far as possible, there is still public 
involvement and input into the decision-making process. 

Therefore, should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, 
which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by 
sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. 

Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place.

Decision notices or minutes from meetings will be available as appropriate. Should you 
wish to view decisions taken meetings of the Cabinet and other Lead Member 
Briefings, they will be available for viewing on the council website - 
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx

Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus

DATE: Tuesday, 9 June 2020

TIME: 1.00 pm

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Items for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public): 

3a Traffic Regulation Order - City of Salford (Parkgate Drive & Adjoining 
Streets, Swinton South) (Prohibition of Waiting) and (Prohibition of 
Stopping Outside School Entrance) Order 2018 (Ref. No. 2174) - 
DEFERRED. 

(Pages 1 - 20)

4  Exclusion of the Public. 

5  Items for Decision (Part 2 - Closed to the Public): No items. 

6  Any other business. 

Public Document Pack

https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx
https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus


Contact Officer: Claire Edwards
Tel No: 0161 793 2602
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 1

  Part 1 - Open to the Public

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

TO
LEAD MEMBER BRIEFING FOR PLANNING & SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

9th June 2020

CITY OF SALFORD (PARKGATE DRIVE AND ADJOINING STREETS,
SWINTON SOUTH) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) &

(PROHIBITION OF STOPPING OUTSIDE SCHOOL ENTRANCE)
ORDER 2018

(TRO Ref. No- 2174)

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development consider the objections, 
the contents of this report and the deliberations of the Traffic Advisory Panel and make a 
decision to:

Authorise the making of the Traffic Regulation Order in the form given in the Notice of 
Proposals as set out in this report and implement accordingly.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

A Prohibition of Waiting restriction scheme was been designed in 2018 following a request 
by the Swinton & Pendlebury Highway Task Group to improve access and road safety close 
to Grosvenor Road Primary School off Parkgate Drive in Swinton. The scheme includes the 
introduction of waiting restrictions at the junctions and a School Keep Clear TRO at the 
school entrance.

A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO Ref - 2174) to introduce No Waiting at Any Time and an 
enforceable School Keep Clear Order was formally consulted with the Traffic Management 
Unit on 27th April 2018 and no objections were received from TMU members.

The Traffic Regulation Order was legally advertised on 2nd August 2018 during which time 
three objections were received from members of the public 

The matter was considered at a meeting of Traffic Advisory Panel (TAP) on 4th October 
2018; All objectors were invited to provide representation in respect of the proposed scheme. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 2

The minutes of the TAP meeting confirm that the Lead Member did not have sufficient 
evidence to make a decision on the proposals and that alternative methods of dealing with the 
issues be exploered. 

Complaints and concerns continue to be raised at the Swinton and Pendlebury Highways 
Task Group, Ward Councillors have been working with the school and have carried out site 
observations. As a result of these continuing concerns, this scheme should be reconsidered by 
the Lead Member.

The Lead Member for Planning & Sustainable Development has, given the views of the 
objectors, those that made additional representations at the Traffic Advisory Panel meeting 
and discussions and continuing concerns at this location indicated that he would make a 
decision regarding the proposed scheme. Having considered the representations made at the 
meeting he was minded to make a decision to approve the advertised proposal.

PROPOSAL:

- ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ on Parkgate Drive at its junctions with Collingwood Drive, 
and Heathfield Drive 

- ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ on Barton Road at its junction with Parkgate Drive.
- School Keep Clear Markings and Orderat school entrance.
- All inline with the schedules contained within this report.

BACKGROUND:

A request was made by the Swinton and Pendlebury Highway Task Group to introduce a ‘No 
Stopping on School Keep Clear markings operative on Mon-Fri 8am -5pm’ Traffic 
Regulation Order to keep the entrance to Grosvenor Road Primary School clear of parked 
vehicles. It is also proposed to introduce ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ at the side road junctions 
on Parkgate Drive.

This proposal will improve road safety at school times on Parkgate Drive near the entrance 
gate of Grosvenor Road School and at all times at the junctions on Parkgate Drive. It will also 
promote sustainable travel by making it easier for pedestrians to walk to and from the school, 
along Parkgate Drive, particularly when crossing at the junctions.

Parkgate Drive, Collingwood Drive, Heathfield Drive and Barton Road provide access to 
Grosvenor Road Primary School. This creates a high demand for parking during pickup and 
drop off times as well as significant pedestrian movements along Parkgate Drive.

Currently there is an advisory ‘School Keep Clear’ marking, installed on site without a valid 
Order to enable enforcement. This results in parents and residents parking on the School 
Keep Clear markings adjacent to the school gate particularly at school arrival and dispersal 
times, without any enforcement.

The proposed restrictions will ensure the junctions remain clear of parked vehicles providing 
turning space and increased visibility for drivers to use the junction safely as well as assisting 

Page 2



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 3

in the general safe movement of vehicles. The restrictions will also enable easier pedestrian 
movements along Parkgate Drive. 

The matter was considered at a meeting of Traffic Advisory Panel (TAP) on 4th October 
2018. Objectors were invited to provide representation in respect of the proposed scheme. 

CONSIDERATION OF OBJECTIONS:

The following table summarises the general points raised by the objections and provides a 
response: 
Appendix: 2
No Objector comments Urban Vision Reply
1 Hi I am resident and home owner on 

Parkgate drive/Collingwood drive and I 
have recently noticed the tiny proposed 
restricted parking notice tied to a lamp 
post informing us of the proposed 
restrictions and I am astounded that each 
resident hasn't been sent a copy of these 
proposals personally, whilst I am aware 
that something has to be done because 
the capacity of the schools has increased 
over the last few years and the area 
during school starting and picking up 
time is horrendous and I am also 
surprised that over the years there hasn't 
been a serious if not fatal accident due to 
the congestion and completely dangerous 
antics performed at these times by the 
relevant drivers and it isn't only confined 
to school time but also parent teachers 
meeting, shows etc I and the local 
residents have witnessed brawls in the 
road at these time due to the antics of 
these drivers I and the other residents 
drop our children off at other schools and 
when we return we have to park on 
Barton road, Lawnswood park road and 
Overdale and many of us are multi car 
house holds and we would struggle to 
park near our residences outside of the 
restricted zone so where does that leave 
us in the parking restriction terms would 
it be permit parking and if so would it 
exempt us from persecution by the 
council during the restricted times to 
enable us to park safely, I speak for 
myself and others that you consider 

The proposals have been advertised on 
site, on the Councils Website and in the 
local newspaper -press. A letter drop to 
each household is not a statutory 
requirement.

The parking issues in this street have 
been raised by the community to the 
Swinton and Pendlebury Highways Task 
Group and prioritised for funding from 
the Highways Devolved Budget.

As most of the properties in this area 
benefit from off road parking provision or 
having the ability to provide off road 
parking provision the area does not meet 
the current criteria for a preferential 
residents parking scheme. Furthermore, 

Page 3



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 4

making the entire area permit parking 
only at any time and leave the school a 
more child friendly area.

the parking that takes place is solely 
school related there are no parking issues 
for the majority of the time.

2 To whom it may concern, 

Having arrived back from a 3-week 
holiday, with no notification (apart from 
something stuck on a lamppost on 
parkgate drive) again another clanger by 
Salford council. I live on Heathfield drive 
and with the 8m non parking on the 
corners being introduced - where do you 
think the traffic will park????
Outside my door!!!!! ( past the 8m point) 

What a disgrace - this won’t stop 
congestion it will cause more and with 
the junctions at the end of the drives free 
this will cause danger to pedestrians 
because drivers will becoming from 
further up the drives and will have built 
up a speed.

I live here and face daily constant battles 
with school parents from blocking me in , 
to endangering my children, to damage to 
my cars

Well I tell you something you will face 
one battle with this because we - yes we ! 
The residents will block the drives further 
down - and god forbid when there is a 
tradgedy you the “ council “ will have 
blood on your hands and I will take this 
to the papers!!!

You are moving a problem and creating a 
bigger problem!

And if tradgedy should strike my own 
family I will permanent move onto the 
lawns of the town hall my own car - I 
will never move it either and if you 
would I would just drive another car into 
the lawns.

Have some common sense !!

The proposals have been advertised on 
site, on the Councils Website and in the 
local press. A letter drop to each 
household is not a statutory requirement.

The Highway Code advises drivers not to 
park within 10m of a junction, this 
proposal is for a lesser distance.

Traffic speed is not considered an issue 
on these streets, particularly at school 
times.

The Police can deal with the offence of 
obstruction if it is reported to them.

3 It has just come to my attention that 
notices have been put on the posts in 

The proposals have been advertised on 
site, on the Councils Website and in the 

Page 4



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 5

Parkgate Drive regarding parking 
restrictions.   

I am a resident of Collingwood Drive and 
whilst I agree with the proposals I wish to 
point out that the parents of the children 
from Grosvenor road school will still be 
parking outside the homes in my drive 
and Heathfield Drive much to the 
inconvenience of residents who own a 
car, the situation is we are unable to 
either get out of our road in a morning 
due to the school traffic and if we are on 
the way home from 2.00pm to school 
finishing we are unable to drive and park 
in our own drives due to the school 
traffic. 

Please can you advise if there are any 
proposals to make the area permit holders 
only or alternatively provide drop kerbs 
as the residents are willing to take down 
the front garden walls to park their cars 
on their drives. 

Follow up to original response:
Thank you for your reply.

I don’t see the need for the yellow lines 
being put on the corners of Collingwood 
and Heathfield Drive if you are still 
allowing parents to park on them for 15 
minutes, the problem will not be resolved 
and you are only inconveniencing the 
residents who already park near the 
bottom of Collingwood, we will lose two 
parking spaces.

In our drive we have three transit vans 
who park in the area you are making a no 
parking zone between 8am - 5pm these 
vehicles can still be there at 8am and 
mostly return before the 5.00pm time 
allotted.

I would be interested to hear how you can 

local press. A letter drop to each 
household is not a statutory requirement.

This is a similar situation to most schools 
across the City; the Police can deal with 
the offence of obstruction if it is reported 
to them.

As most of the properties in this area 
benefit from off road parking provision or 
have the ability to provide off road 
parking provision the area does not meet 
the current criteria for a preferential 
residents parking scheme. Furthermore, 
the parking that takes place is solely 
school related there are no parking issues 
for the majority of the time. Residents 
can apply for a dropped crossing to 
provide access to off street parking 
spaces.

You are not permitted to park on double 
yellow lines, and the advice in the 
Highway Code is not to park within 10m 
of a junction, whether they are residents 
or visitors to the school. 

It is not for the Council to resolve the 
parking issues for residents who have 
inadequate private parking available to 
them, but to manage the safe and efficient 
movement of traffic on the network.

Page 5



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 6

resolve this matter for the residents 
whom the majority have more than one 
car.

DELIBERATIONS OF THE TRAFFIC ADVISORY PANEL:

The matter was proposed to consider at a TAP meeting on 19th March 2020. This meeting 
cancelled due to Covid 19. Consideration taken from previous TAP meeting minutes.

The minutes of the TAP meeting form 4th October 2018 are:

“PARKGATE DRIVE AND ADJOINING STREETS, SWINTON SOUTH 
The Panel considered a report of the Strategic Director Place which detailed the objections 
that had been received regarding a proposal to introduce ‘No Stopping Monday to Friday 
8.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. on School Keep Clear markings’ to keep the area near the entrance to 
Grosvenor Road Primary School clear of vehicles at arrival and dispersal times, and ‘No 
Waiting at Any Time’ to prevent vehicles parking close to the junctions on Parkgate Drive.  
The proposal was in response to a request from the Swinton & Pendlebury Highway Task 
Group with the intention of improving road safety at all times on Parkgate Drive near the 
entrance gate of Grosvenor Road Primary School and at the junctions.  It would also promote 
sustainable travel by making it easier for pedestrians to walk to and from the school, 
particularly when crossing at junctions.

Parkgate Drive, Collingwood Drive, Heathfield Drive and Barton Road provide a rear access 
to Grosvenor Road Primary School which creates a high demand for parking during pickup 
and drop off times, as well as significant pedestrian movements along Parkgate Drive. 

The Panel established that the rear entrance was used in addition to the main entrance in order 
to encourage walking to school.  The report indicated that there was currently an advisory 
School Keep Clear marking only, installed on site without a permanent traffic regulation 
order, which was resulting in parents and residents parking on the School Keep Clear 
markings adjacent to the school gate without any enforcement.  The proposed restrictions 
would ensure that the junctions remained clear of parked vehicles, providing turning space, 
increased visibility to use the junction safely as well as assisting in the general safe 
movement of vehicles. The restrictions would also enable easier pedestrian movements along 
Parkgate Drive.

The Panel noted the background information provided in the report, together with the details 
of the objections that had been received and the responses that had been provided.

The Panel were informed of an additional objection that had been received by email which 
detailed issues in respect of the following –

 The proposals would lead to drivers parking where they can (further down Heathfield for 
example). This would mean that vehicles would be at speed reaching Parkgate Drive 
which was likely to lead to an accident at some point.
- Parking could take place where there are no restrictions. Excessive speeds are 
unlikely to be an issue on these streets at any time.

Page 6



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 7

 Drivers waiting in vehicles on Barton Road would not see children coming in bad 
weather.
- Parking restrictions would aid visibility in all weathers

 The proposed double yellow lines on the corners of Barton Road would cause the traffic 
to be bottle necked because cars would park on both sides of Barton Road which would 
make it difficult for the school bus from Springwood School to get out 
- The proposed restrictions are extended to assist traffic exiting Springwood.

 Instead of limiting the parking by covering only part of drives in double yellow lines, 
there should be residents’ only parking or double yellow lines to the end of each of the 
cul-de-sacs.
- The majority of properties in the area have driveways and the parking issues are only 

an issue at school arrival and dispersal times. The site does not meet the current 
criteria for a residents parking scheme. 

 The proposals would have a detrimental impact on road safety in the area.
- The removal of parked vehicles from the junction radii and at the school entrance 

should make the road safer at all times.

 Two objectors attended the meeting and raised the following issues –
The proposals would result in a loss of parking spaces putting further pressure on 
parking provision in the area.
- The parking issues are prevalent at school times. The restrictions are 8m in length 

which is below the  10m advised within the Highway Code to minimise the loss of on 
street parking.

 Many of the residents live in multi car households. 
- The highway is not provided and maintained at public expense so as to provide 

parking facilities. Most properties have driveways and the ability to increase thier off 
road parking provision if the residents need to.

 There is only one way in and out of Parkgate Drive.
- True, Proposed restrictions will keep turning area clear of parked vehicles for safe 

manoeuvring.

 Some residents do not work during school holidays and would be unable to park near 
their homes.
- This supports the need to increase sustainabel travel choices such as parking away 

from the school gate and walking. This scheme will assist pedestrian movements 
along Parkgate Drive.

 A residents’ parking scheme should be introduced. 
- This site does not meet the resident parking scheme criteria.

 The parking situation has deteriorated further following the capacity of the school having 
been increased.
- This supports the need to increase sustainabel travel choices such as parking away 

Page 7



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 8

from the school gate and walking. This scheme will assist pedestrian movements 
along Parkgate Drive.

 There have been numerous confrontations over parking spaces in the area.
- Probably true - and this has lead to complaints which is why the Highways Task 

Group prioritised the scheme.

 The behaviour of drivers at school drop off and pick up times was causing a risk to road 
safety.
- True and has been observed. The Sustainable Travel Officer (with Councillor 

Cammell) has visited the school to try and promote sustainale travel choices

 Road safety would be improved by restricting the number of vehicles travelling through 
the area.
- This is a cul de sac, with all traffic accessing the properties or the school. It may be 

considered as a School Street at some point in the future - but this is not available to 
us at present.

Councillor Fletcher echoed the above issues and stated that the priority must be to ensure the 
safety of the children in the area.

The Panel were advised by the Highways Officer that the area did not meet the criteria for a 
residents’ parking scheme due to the majority of residents having off-street parking provision 
and a parking survey having indicated that, with the exception of approximately 30 minutes 
at school drop off and pick up times, there were no major parking issues during the remainder 
of the day.  Other residents’ parking schemes in Swinton were in operation between 10.00 
a.m. and 3.00 p.m. and such a scheme would not be of benefit to this particular area.

During the Panel debate, it was suggested that the school be approached with regard to the 
possibility of using the main entrance only, which was situated in a more suitable location, at 
drop off and pick up times.  The exploration of this suggestion was supported by Members of 
the Panel.

The school have been approached and will not prevent the use of the pedestrian gate 
on Parkgate Drive due to numerous reasons. The school has been laid out and 
developed to use the Parkate Drive access as the main pedestrain and vehicular 
entrance.

The Chair indicated that he was not prepared to make a decision regarding the proposed 
scheme at this time as he did not have sufficient evidence, in terms of the police being 
concerned about parking in the area, to do so.  He referred to the Highway Code which 
advises that drivers should not park within 10m of a junction, in respect of which action 
could be taken by the police should this be contravened. In addition, he indicated that he 
would like an alternative way of dealing with the situation, in terms of the possibility of 
access via the main entrance to the school being encouraged, to be explored.

Additional information has been made available to the Lead Member since the TAP 
meeting to address the concerns raised at the meeting and concerns and complaints 
regarding parking and traffic conditions continue to be raised. Having considered this 

Page 8



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 9

information, the Lead Member now has sufficient information to make a decision on 
the proposal.

CONSIDERATION OF ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS:

The Council may consider the following options;

1. Abandon the scheme and leave the situation as it currently is.
2. Approve the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) as advertised and implement 

accordingly
or 

3. accede to the objections in part and advise the Lead Member to amend the scheme. 

Currently there is an advisory School Keep Clear marking only installed on school entrance 
of Parkgate Drive without a permanent TRO. This allows parents and residents to park on the 
school keep clear markings adjacent to the school gate at school arrival and dispersal times.

Parking also takes place close to the junctions on both sides of the carriageway restricting 
space for turning vehicles and pedestrians 

The proposed no waiting restrictions will keep the junctions clear at all times and improving 
turning visibility facility to promote safe manoeuvres as well as providing a safer area for 
pedestrians to cross the side roads on the approach to the school.

RECOMMENDATION:

 It is recommended that the objections to the proposal be overruled;

 At present drivers are parking very close to the junctions which is causing difficulties 
for vehicles turning at the junctions. Vehicles are parking on the radius of the 
junctions, which then creates problems for pedestrians walking along Parkgate Drive 
to and from the school. Therefore, it is recommended to introduce waiting restrictions 
at the junction to provide space for turning vehicles as well as keeping the corners 
clear for pedestrians.

 Introducing ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ and School Keep Clear restrictions will keep 
the school gate area clear, maintain access at the junctions ensuring safe manoeuvres 
can take place as well as improving the pedestrian walk route to and from the school.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  Local Transport Plan

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A

STATEMENT OF REASONS:

Page 9



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 10

No Waiting at Any Time is considered appropriate at all junctions to ensure that safe 
manoeuvres can take place at all times and access is maintained for all vehicles including 
emergency vehicles.

The introduction of the Prohibition of Waiting & School Keep Clear TRO in will ensure that 
pedestrian accessibility is improved by providing improved visibility at junctions and space 
for vehicles to turn.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

Implementation of the restrictions would decrease the risk of collisions and improve road 
safety.

The No Waiting At Any Time and School Keep Clear restrictions will be marked out in 
accordance with the Traffic Signs Manual and Traffic Sign Regulations and General 
Directions (TSRGD 2016). 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS:

Where objections are received by the Council following the advertisement of proposals, the 
decision regarding the implementation of the proposals is delegated to the relevant Lead 
Member for determination, following consultation with the Council’s Traffic Advisory Panel.  
Adhering to this procedure should not give rise to any legal implications. 

If the decision is made to implement the proposals in this report, these
 should not give rise to any legal implications provided the works are carried out in 
accordance with the appropriate statutory requirements set out in the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:   

The scheme has been approved and the cost of the proposed scheme will be met from the 
Highways Block 3 devolved capital allocation for Swinton and Pendlebury, in the 2018-19 
financial year.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

The TRO was commenced by Urban Vision Partnership under the DSPA exclusivity in 
compliance with CSO’s. The work will be completed by the City Council.

HR IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

PROPOSAL DETAILS:

Page 10



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 11

Appendix
1. Legal schedule.
2. Advertised site notice and legal representation (objections)
3. drawing detailing the proposed 

PROPOSALS: Appendix 1

Schedule: 1 
Prohibition of Stopping outside School Entrance; ‘No Stopping Mon-Fri 8am -5pm on 
entrance markings’

Column 1 Column 2

School comprised of 
the School Entrance

Length of Road

Grosvenor Road 
Primary School                       

  Parkgate Drive, around the cul-de-sac end, from a point 5 metres 
east of the junction with the easterly kerbline of Collingwood 
Drive for a distance of 43.56 metres in an easterly, northerly and 
westerly direction.

Schedule: 2 
No Waiting at Any Time

Column 1 Column 2

Street Name Length of Road

Both sides, from its north easterly kerbline of Barton Road for a distance of 8 
metres in a north easterly direction.

Both sides, from its south westerly kerbline of Heathfield Drive for a distance 
of 8 metres in a south westerly direction.

Both sides, from its north easterly kerbline of Heathfield Drive for a distance of 
8 metres in a north easterly direction.

Both sides, from its south westerly kerbline of Collingwood Drive for a 
distance of 8 metres in a south westerly direction.

Parkgate 
Drive

Both sides, from its north easterly kerbline of Collingwood Drive for a distance 
of 5 metres in a north easterly direction.

West side, from its northerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 
metres in a northerly direction.

Barron Road

West side, from its southerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 20 
metres in a southerly direction.

Heathfield 
Drive

Both sides, from its northerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 
metres in a northerly direction.

Page 11



JLMB- TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive- Grosvenor School 12

Both sides, from its southerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 
metres in a southerly direction.

Both sides, from its northerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 
metres in a northerly direction.

Collingwood 
Drive

Both sides, from its southerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 
metres in a southerly direction.

Appendix 2:

Advertised site notice and legal representations are attached to the TAP report. 

Appendix 3
drawing detailing the proposed is attached to this report

- TAP Appendix 3 – TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive.pdf

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: None

CONTACT OFFICER: Robert Owen & Yogeshwari Patel 
TEL NO: 0161 779 4848 & 0161 779 4857

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Swinton South, Salford

Ben Dolan
Strategic Director, Place

Page 12



APPENDIX -2 TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive, Swinton South
Site Notice and Drawing & legal representations

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

APPENDIX 2

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

9th June 2020

CITY OF SALFORD (PARKGATE DRIVE AND ADJOINING STREETS,
SWINTON SOUTH) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) &

(PROHIBITION OF STOPPING OUTSIDE SCHOOL ENTRANCE)
ORDER 2018

(TRO Ref. No- 2174)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

A Prohibition of Waiting restriction scheme was been designed in 2018 following a request 
by the Swinton & Pendlebury Highway Task Group to improve access and road safety close 
to Grosvenor Road Primary School off Parkgate Drive in Swinton. The scheme includes the 
introduction of waiting restrictions at the junctions and a School Keep Clear TRO at the 
school entrance.

A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO Ref - 2174) to introduce No Waiting at Any Time and an 
enforceable School Keep Clear Order was formally consulted with the Traffic Management 
Unit on 27th April 2018 and no objections were received from TMU members.

The Traffic Regulation Order was legally advertised on 2nd August 2018 during which time 
three objections were received from members of the public 

This scheme was advertised in area newspaper, published on the public notices section of the 
website (as per the link below).
https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/traffic-orders/parkgate-drive/ 

The matter was considered at a meeting of Traffic Advisory Panel (TAP) on 4th October 2018; 
All objectors were invited to provide representation in respect of the proposed scheme. 

JLMB is scheduled on 9th June 2020.

Plan of the proposal and site notice are attached

Page 13

https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/traffic-orders/parkgate-drive/


APPENDIX -2 TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive, Swinton South
Site Notice and Drawing & legal representations

The Notice is hereby given that

Salford City Council proposes to make the following Orders under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984. The titles and effects of the Orders are as follows:
CITY OF SALFORD (PARKGATE DRIVE AND ADJOINING STREETS, SWINTON 
SOUTH) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) ORDER 2018under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984.

Parkgate Drive-
(i) Both sides, from its north easterly kerbline of Barton Road for a distance of 8 metres in a north 
easterly direction. 
(ii) Both sides, from its south westerly kerbline of Heathfield Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a 
south westerly direction. 
(iii) Both sides, from its north easterly kerbline of Heathfield Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a 
north easterly direction. 
(iv) Both sides, from its south westerly kerbline of Collingwood Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a 
south westerly direction. 
(v) Both sides, from its north easterly kerbline of Collingwood Drive for a distance of 5 metres in a 
north easterly direction.

Barton Road- 
(i) West side, from its northerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a northerly 
direction. 
(ii) West side, from its southerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 20 metres in a southerly 
direction.

Heathfield Drive- 
(i) Both sides, from its northerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a northerly 
direction. 
(ii) Both sides, from its southerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a southerly 
direction.

Collingwood Drive- 
(i) Both sides, from its northerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a northerly 
direction. 
(ii) Both sides, from its southerly kerbline of Parkgate Drive for a distance of 8 metres in a southerly 
direction.

CITY OF SALFORD (PARKGATE DRIVE, SWINTON SOUTH) (PROHIBITION OF 
STOPPING OUTSIDE SCHOOL ENTRANCE) ORDER 2018- no stopping between the hours of 
8am-5pm on Mon to Fri on Parkgate Drive, around the cul-de-sac end, from a point 5 metres east of 
the junction with the easterly kerbline of Collingwood Drive for a distance of 43.56 metres in an 
easterly, northerly and westerly direction, outside Grosvenor Road Primary School. 
Existing Orders are to be amended so as to be consistent with proposals. 
A copy of the proposed Orders, plans of the area and a statement of the Council's reasons for 
proposing to make the Orders may be examined at Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Rd, Swinton, M27 
5AS, 8.30am-4.30pm Mon-Fri. Details can be viewed online at 
www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/traffic-orders/. 

If you wish to object to the proposed Order you should send the grounds of your objection in writing 
to phlegal@manchester.gov.uk or PO BOX 532, TOWN HALL, MANCHESTER, M60 2LA, by 24 
August 2018 
Quoting ref L/TGA/OUT1093/645
Dated: 2 August 2018 Ben Dolan, Strategic Director Place. 
Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford M27 5DA

Page 14

http://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/traffic-orders/
mailto:phlegal@manchester.gov.uk


APPENDIX -2 TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive, Swinton South
Site Notice and Drawing & legal representations

Page 15



APPENDIX -2 TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive, Swinton South
Site Notice and Drawing & legal representations

OBJECTIONS: 

Objector: 1 
---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Tinofara Garabga <t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk>; 
Date: 28 August 2018 at 11:30
Subject: Fwd: L/TGA/OUT1093/645
To: Tinofara Garabga <t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk>

Their email address is jkschofield59@hotmail.com. 

On Sunday, 26 August 2018 17:45:44 UTC+1, john wrote:

Hi I am resident and home owner on Parkgate drive/Collingwood drive and I have recently 
noticed the tiny proposed restricted parking notice tied to a lamp post informing us of the 
proposed restrictions and I am astounded that each resident hasn't been sent a copy of these 
proposals personally, whilst I am aware that something has to be done because the capacity of 
the schools has increased over the last few years and the area during school starting and 
picking up time is horrendous and I am also surprised that over the years there hasn't been 
a serious if not fatal accident due to the congestion and completely dangerous antics 
performed at these times by the relevant drivers and it isn't only confined to school time but 
also parent teachers meeting, shows etc I and the local residents have witnessed brawls in the 
road at these time due to the antics of these drivers I and the other residents drop our children 
off at other schools and when we return we have to park on Barton road, Lawnswood park 
road and Overdale  and many of us are multi car house holds and we would struggle to park 
near our residences outside of the restricted zone  so where does that leave us in the parking 
restriction terms would it be permit parking and if so would it exempt us from persecution by 
the council during the restricted times to enable us to park safely, I speak for myself and 
others that you consider making the entire area  permit parking only at any time and leave the 
school a more child friendly area.

many thanks John 

OBJECTOR: 2

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: clare Hargrove <clarehargrove79@outlook.com>
Date: 1 September 2018 at 17:44
Subject: L/TGA/OUT1093/645
To: "phlegal@manchester.gov.uk" <phlegal@manchester.gov.uk>

To whom it may concern,

Having arrived back from a 3 week holiday , with no notification ( apart from something 
stuck on a lamppost on parkgate drive) again another clanger by Salford council. I live on 
Heathfield drive and with the 8m non parking on the corners being introduced - where do you 
think the traffic will park????
Outside my door!!!!! ( past the 8m point) 

Page 16

mailto:t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:jkschofield59@hotmail.com
mailto:clarehargrove79@outlook.com
mailto:phlegal@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:phlegal@manchester.gov.uk


APPENDIX -2 TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive, Swinton South
Site Notice and Drawing & legal representations

What a disgrace - this won’t stop congestion it will cause more and withthe junctions at the 
end of the drives free this will cause danger to pedestrians because drivers will becoming 
from further up the drives and will have built up a speed.

I live here and face daily constant battles with school parents from blocking me in , to 
endangering my children, to damage to my cars

Well I tell you something you will face one battle with this because we - yes we ! The 
residents will block the drives further down - and god forbid when there is a tradgedy you the 
“ council “ will have blood on your hands and I will take this to the papers!!!

You are moving a problem and creating a bigger problem!

And if tradgedy should strike my own family I will permanent move onto the lawns of the 
town hall my own car - I will never move it either and if you would I would just drive another 
car into the lawns.

Have some common sense !!

OBJECTOR: 3

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Tinofara Garabga <t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk>
Date: 14 September 2018 at 15:15
Subject: Fwd: L/TGA/OUT1093/645
To: Tinofara Garabga <t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk>

On Thursday, 13 September 2018 16:12:33 UTC+1, gina connolly wrote:
Dear Sir/Madam 

It has just come to my attention that notices have been put on the posts in Parkgate Drive 
regarding parking restrictions.   

I am a resident of Collingwood Drive and whilst I agree with the proposals I wish to point out 
that the parents of the children from Grosvenor road school will still be parking outside the 
homes in my drive and Heathfield Drive much to the inconvenience of residents who own a 
car, the situation is we are unable to either get out of our road in a morning due to the school 
traffic and if we are on the way home from 2.00pm to school finishing we are unable to drive 
and park in our own drives due to the school traffic. 

Please can you advise if there are any proposals to make the area permit holders only or 
alternatively provide drop kerbs as the residents are willing to take down the front garden 
walls to park their cars on their drives. 

Kind Regards 

Mrs G Connolly 

Page 17

mailto:t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk
mailto:t.garabga@manchester.gov.uk


APPENDIX -2 TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive, Swinton South
Site Notice and Drawing & legal representations

On 17 Sep 2018, at 09:57, Patel, Yogeshwariba 
<yogeshwariba.patel@urbanvision.org.uk> wrote:

Good Morning  Mrs G Connolly
 
These streets are not eligible for resident parking scheme; as all residents having 
driveways.
You may apply for H-bar markings to stop people to park on driveways.
Please contact Rachael Jeffrey if you would like to apply for markings.
rachael.jeffrey@urbanvision.org.uk
 
Sincerely, YP

From: gina connolly [mailto:gcconnolly@hotmail.com] 
Sent: 17 September 2018 18:59
To: Patel, Yogeshwariba
Subject: Re: L/TGA/OUT1093/645
 
Dear Miss/Mrs Patel 
 
Thank you for your reply.

Sent from my iPad
I don’t see the need for the yellow lines being put on the corners of Collingwood and 
Heathfield Drive if you are still allowing parents to park on them for 15 minutes, the 
problem will not be resolved and you are only inconveniencing the residents who 
already park near the bottom of Collingwood, we will lose two parking spaces.

 
In our drive we have three transit vans who park in the area you are making a no 
parking zone between 8am - 5pm these vehicles can still be there at 8am and mostly 
return before the 5.00pm time allotted.

 
I would be interested to hear how you can resolve this matter for the residents whom 
the majority have more than one car.

 
With kind regards

 
Mrs G Connolly

Page 18

mailto:yogeshwariba.patel@urbanvision.org.uk
mailto:rachael.jeffrey@urbanvision.org.uk
mailto:gcconnolly@hotmail.com


9

10

HEATHFIELD DRIVE

33

1

8

12
7

BARTON ROAD

P
A

R
K

G
A

T
E

 D
R

IV
E

11

41

5

17

12

16

P
rim

a
ry

15

14

P
A

R
K

S
W

IN
T

O
N

11
G

ro
sve

n

12

COLLINGWOOD DRIVE

18

10

11

13

14

43

15
13

25
26

15

14

0m
0m

20m

8m

0m 0m

5m8m

8m

0m 0m

43.56m

5m

0m8m

8m
8m

8m

8m

8m

8m

8m

0m0m

8m

8m

8m
8m

8m
8m

0m

N

©
 Salford C

ity C
ouncil

\\uvstore\enghigh$\Traffic M
anagem

ent\Traffic M
anagem

ent and C
ontrol\2174 G

rosvenor School, Sw
inton\4.2 TAP and AM

 Approval\JLM
B\TR

O
-2174 Parkgate D

rive.dw
g

This draw
ing is copyright to Salford C

ity C
ouncil. It shall not be used w

ithout
perm

ission for any purpose. R
eproduction is only perm

itted by prior arrangem
ent.

D
o not scale from

 this draw
ing. All discrepancies to be related back to the

originator for verification prior to com
m

encing the w
orks.

All dim
ensions are in                    unless otherw

ise stated.
C

O
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L

 IN
 C

O
N

F
ID

E
N

C
E

PR
O

JEC
T

D
R

AW
IN

G

C
LIEN

T

D
R

AW
IN

G
 N

U
M

BER

PR
O

JEC
T R

EF.
R

EVISIO
N

w
w

w
.salford.gov.uk

D
ATE

SC
ALE @

 A3
D

R
AW

N
C

H
EC

KED
APPR

O
VED

R
EV

D
ESC

R
IPTIO

N
D

R
N

C
H

K
D

ATE
APP

PU
R

PO
SE O

F ISSU
E

S
A

L
F

O
R

D
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

, C
IV

IC
 C

E
N

T
R

E
, C

H
O

R
L

E
Y

 R
O

A
D

,
S

W
IN

T
O

N
, M

A
N

C
H

E
S

T
E

R
, M

2
7 5

A
W

.  T
 0

1
6

1
 7

7
9

 4
8

0
0

m
illim

etres

Salford C
ity C

ouncil
W

ard: Sw
inton & Pendlebury

G
rosvenor R

oad Prim
ary School

G
eneral TR

O
 arrangem

ent

Parkgate D
rive, Barton R

oad, 
C

ollingw
ood D

rive & H
eathfield D

rive
Proposed TR

O

S2 - FO
R

 IN
FO

R
M

ATIO
N

YP
R

O
R

O
N

TS
21.5.2020

TR
O

 2174
P02

008572- Parkgate D
rive

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Traffic Regulation Order - City of Salford (Parkgate Drive & Adjoining Streets, Swinton South) (Prohibition of Waiting) and (Prohibition of Stopping Outside School Entrance) Order 2018 (Ref. No. 2174) - DEFERRED.
	Appendix 2 - Legal Site Notice & Representations - TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive Swinton
	Appendix 3 Map TRO 2174 Parkgate Drive Swinton


